IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 16-1650

DAVID M. POWERS

Applicant-Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF IOWA

Resister-Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE BLACK HAWK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

THE HONORABLE GEORGE L. STIGLER

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Kent A. Simmons P.O. Box 594 Bettendorf, Iowa 52722 (563) 322-7784 <u>ttswlaw@gmail.com</u>

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

 This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because:

- this brief contains 8,881 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

I.

Whether the district court abused discretion in quashing a subpoena to produce police reports from an investigation that would provide evidence as to whether Applicant's granddaughter made false allegations of sexual abuse against other persons.

Wells Dairy Inc. v. American Refrigeration, 690 N.W. 2d 38, 4 (Iowa 2004) Exotica Botanicals v. Terra Inc., 612 N.W. 2d 801, 804 (Iowa 2000) State v. Tyler, 867 N.W. 2d 136, 152 (Iowa 2015) State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W. 2d 180 (Iowa 2013) Rule 1.1701 (1)(c), Ia. R. Civ P. Rule 1.1701(4), la. R. Civ P

Rule 1.1701 (5), la. R. Civ P

Section 22.7(5), the Code

II.

Whether the judge abused discretion in overruling Applicant's Motion for Ruling on Admissibility of Evidence because he denied Applicant discovery to develop the evidence, and he reached his conclusions on unreasonable and untenable grounds

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W. 2d 136, 152 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W. 2d 180 (lowa 2013)

Iowa Constitution at Article I, Section 9

United States Constitution, Amendment Fourteen

War Eagle Village Apartments v. Plummer, 775 N.W. 2d 714 (Iowa 2009)

Owens v. Brownlie, 610 NW 2d 860 (Iowa 2000)

Holm v. District Court for Jones Co., 767 N.W. 2d 409 (Iowa 2009)

Tun v. Gonzales, 485 F.3d 1014 (8th Cir. 2007)

C Line, Inc. v. Malin and City of Davenport, 2011 WL 6058580 (S.Ct. No. 10-1600)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal because it involves issues germane to a postconviction applicant's ability to obtain evidence to show a wrongful conviction, and the uniform and proper administration of postconviction proceedings will be greatly impacted by a definitive ruling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE: This is an interlocutory appeal that was granted after the Honorable George L. Stigler quashed Applicant's subpoena *duces tecum* seeking police reports, refused to release the reports to Applicant,

and then used the content of those reports to rule against Applicant's motion regarding admissibility of evidence to prove a postconviction claim.

PROCEEDINGS: The current issues in this appeal arose out of a subpoena Applicant David Powers served on the original complaining witness. His defense in the underlying criminal prosecution for Sexual Abuse had always maintained that his granddaughter, K.P., had made false accusations against him.

To prove the foregoing claim, Applicant subpoenaed K.P. to appear to testify at the hearing on the merits scheduled for June 22, 2016. Applicant had also subpoenaed a police witness to bring reports to the PCR trial to prove K.P.'s false accusation against criminal street gang members. (Return of Service, Tyler, 6/10/16) On June 13, 2016, the Public Defender filed a Motion to Quash on behalf of K.P. The only reason for avoidance of appearance stated in the motion was that K.P. was scheduled to be on a family vacation on the date of the court appearance. On that basis, counsel for Mr. Powers agreed to reschedule the PCR trial.

(Motion to Quash, 6/13/16; Motion for Ruling on Admissibility of Evidence and in Response to Motion to Quash, 7/12/16; App. 39-44) At the time she was served with the PCR subpoena, K.P. was 20 years old, and it is not clear why the Public Defender's juvenile division was representing her without being appointed.

After Applicant agreed to the continuance of the PCR trial, the Court cancelled the trial and ordered a trial setting conference. In the same order, however, the Court set K.P.'s Motion to Quash for a one-hour hearing on July 25, 2016. (Order, 6/14/16; App 40). In his Motion for Ruling on Admissibility of Evidence and in Response to Motion to Quash, Mr. Powers pointed out that K.P.'s motion had only asked for leave to be excused from the June 22 trial, and because that date was continued, her Motion to Quash was moot. The Motion for Admissibility then set out the facts averring that K.P. had made a false complaint of sexual abuse against members of a criminal street gang in March of 2011. These facts had all been set out in Applicant's First Amendment to Application for PCR that had been allowed by the trial court's order of October 31, 2014. (App.

18-20) Officers of the Waterloo Police Department (WPD) had determined K.P.'s allegations against the gang members were false. The false complaint and police investigation occurred between the time of the verdict and sentencing in the criminal prosecution against Mr. Powers. Counsel for Mr. Powers was ineffective in failing to pursue that evidence of K.P.'s false complaint of sexual abuse in litigation on a Motion for New Trial. (Motion for Admissibility; App. 39-41)

The attorney for K.P. then filed an amended motion to quash, claiming "the testimony is irrelevant and should be excluded as a subsequent act unrelated to the events of the David Powers criminal trial." (Amended Motion, 7/14/16, p.1; App. 42-44) With his Resistance to Amended Motion to Quash, Mr. Powers again pointed out there was no subpoena pending for K.P. because a new trial date had not yet been scheduled. (Resistance, p.1; App. 47) On the same date that resistance was filed, a deputy sheriff served Applicant's Subpoena Duces Tecum upon the WPD Chief of Police, Dan Trelka. The subpoena directed the Chief or his designee to bring all reports "connected to a complaint of

sexual abuse [K.P.] first made in , or about, March, 2011, that was determined by an officer or officers of the Waterloo Police Department to be false." (Subpoena and Return, attached to Motion for Filing of Documents, 7/25/16; App. 58-60) The Waterloo City Attorney then moved to quash the Subpoena Duces Tecum, claiming "the items requested are wholly unrelated to the underlying sexual abuse case." The City Attorney also joined "in the Motion to Quash Subpoena (Amended)" filed by the Public Defender for K.P. (Motion, 7/20/16; App. 52).

In resistance to the City's Motion to Quash and the Public Defender's amended Motion to Quash, Mr. Powers pointed out that neither K.P., nor the City were a party to Applicant's postconviction action and neither party had standing to object to the relevance of the discovery request or Applicant's Motion for Ruling on Admissibility of Evidence. (Resistance, 7/23/16; App 53-54). The State never filed a resistance to the Motion for Admissibility. At the hearing on the motions, the City Attorney and the attorney for K.P. advanced the arguments as to why the subpoenaed police reports should not be turned over to Applicant and why K.P. should not be called as a witness at the PCR trial in regard to the police investigation of her false complaint. Additionally, the City Attorney requested Judge Stigler examine the reports "in-camera" before deciding whether to release them to Applicant. The assistant county attorney who attended the motion hearing simply agreed with the arguments the City Attorney and Public Defender made. (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 4-8; L. 13-12)

At the same hearing, Applicant presented the testimony of Philip Powers. He is the father of K.P. and the son of Applicant. Philip testified that after his father was found guilty in the jury trial, K.P. ran away from home. Philip identified Motion Exhibit "1", a copy of a Facebook post from March 10, 2011. The post stated K.P. had been found. She was safe, and Philip had been required to take her to a youth shelter. He testified that within a few days of her placement at the shelter, Philip was summoned to the WPD. The police were beginning an investigation. "[K.P.] had made accusations that she had been abused sexually or raped or something along these lines by some gang members that she was staying around when she was on the run." (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 10-13, L. 19-17).

The police told Philip they were going to interview some people that K.P. was on the run with, and then get back to him. After police conducted the interviews, a detective again met with Philip and told him "the stories weren't matching up." The detective believed K.P. had made a false complaint, and the WPD was not going forward with it. (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 13-15, L. 24-8) After the attorneys each briefly cross-examined Philip, Judge Stigler then conducted a lengthy cross-examination of his own with the Applicant's witness. (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 20-23, L. 11-15)

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Stigler told the City Attorney he needed two things. First, he wanted the reports, "any and all that exist." Then, the judge told the City Attorney this:

> Second, I'd like you to get a photo, if you can, and specific information about [Detective] Chopard, because my recollection of his appearance, from having testified any number of occasions, is different than Mr. Powers' recollection of the person that he talked to. And if Chopard was the person that he talked to and he's been misidentified, I would think that would have some

relevance to this.

So, if I could get just a generic description of Chopard, how tall he is, the color of his hair, weight, so on and so forth, generic appearance. Okay. Can you do that, say in two or three days?

[City Attorney]: Yes.

The Court: Okay. Great.

[City Attorney]: Your honor, there are videos that were taken of some of these interviews with [K.P.] and the police.

The Court: Okay. I would like to have one of Chopard, not so much for the contents of the interview so much as his appearance and what have you.

[City Attorney]: Sure.

The Court: Okay. Great. Thank you, all.

(Hrg. Tr. 7/25/16, p. 26, L. 4-25)

This second request pertained to the judge's previous

cross-examination of Philip. In that cross-examination, the judge was

pressing Philip for details as to a physical description of the police officer

who told him that he believed K.P. had made a false complaint. At the conclusion of that inquiry, the attorney for K.P. had volunteered information to the judge stating the name of the police officer in question as "Chopard". The attorney knew that because she had a copy of the police reports in that investigation. The attorney for K.P. had her own copy of the police reports Applicant had subpoenaed. (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 22-23, L. 7-5)

The City Attorney did provide the police reports to Judge Stigler. In the order that followed the motion hearing, the judge described ten police reports he had received, identifying them by author, date and number of pages. That itemization noted Chopard authored seven reports and a second police officer named Naumann had authored two reports. Judge Stigler identified an undated document as "Statement of K.P." In addition, the judge noted: "DVDs were made of the various interviews, however, due to the passage of time, those DVDs are no longer available." (Order, 8/3/16, p.2; App. 65) The judge went on in the order to make specific factual findings from the police reports that he would not allow the Applicant to have. (Order 8/3/16, pp. 2-3; App. 65-67) On the same day as the

motion hearing, Mr. Powers had filed his Motion for Filing of Documents. Applicant had requested Judge Stigler provide to Applicant the reports that the City Attorney was providing to him. In the motion, Mr. Powers stated:

> The Motion to Quash the City filed is based upon relevance. The Applicant will have to examine the documents regardless of how the Court rules, in order to preserve any error in the ruling, and to determine whether it appears the City has produced all documents requested in subpoena item No. 2. No ground of confidentiality has been advanced on the basis of any rule or statute. If the Court determines the documents should remain confidential, they can be ordered sealed, but nonetheless provided to Applicant's counsel. (Motion, pp. 1-2; App. 59-60)

In the Order that followed nine days later, the judge made no

reference to Applicant's Motion for Filing Documents. After making his

findings from the withheld reports, the judge then initiated his own further investigation. He set a second hearing "to allow reception of evidence from" two police officers. (Order, 8/3/16, p. 4; App. 67) None of the parties who had been litigating the motions requested testimony from the two police officers, and none of the parties had requested any further hearing of any kind. After hearing testimony from Officer Chopard in the second hearing, Judge Stigler ruled from the bench:

> And lastly the exclusion of evidence I find that none of this relating to the events that related to the gang situation has anything at all to do with the situation involving the criminal case against Mr. Powers, and thus the evidence relating to the gang situation will be excluded from hearing in the postconviction relief application. So all of the other bases for the PCR advance, but this one area will be foreclosed from consideration further. (Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, p. 34, L. 4-12)

Counsel for Applicant then asked for clarification on two points. The judge verified that he would not be providing copies of the police reports to the Applicant, and he would issue a written ruling on the motions and withholding of reports. (Hrg. Tr. 34-35, L. 18-2). Judge Stigler never did file a written ruling. On September 22, 2016, Applicant requested the written order on the August 31 rulings. Applicant filed the Application for Interlocutory Appeal in this Court on September 30, 2016, and the Court granted that Application on October 26, 2016.

Statement of the Facts

In the course of Judge Stigler's cross-examination of Philip Powers in the first motion hearing, the judge changed the question of whether there was evidence K.P. had made a false complaint of sexual abuse against gang members. The question was no longer whether there was evidence of a false complaint, but whether a police officer "told" Philip the officer thought it was false. In the cross-examination, the judge decided to question Philip's credibility on conversations Philip had over five years before the hearing. He pressed Philip on details of Detective Chopard's physical appearance. At the end of his cross-examination, the judge told Philip:

Well Chopard has testified in court a number of times and we'll certainly get a better description of him for the record, but your statement of him may be at odds with what his appearance really is.

(Hrg. Tr. 7/25/16, p. 23, L. 9-12)

After conducting his cross-examination, the judge then asked the City Attorney to get him a photograph and a general description of Chopard. He also asked for any available video of interviews conducted by Chopard, "not so much for content of the interview so much as his appearance and what have you." The judge was more interested in what Chopard looked like, as opposed to the verbal and substantive content of the investigation. (Hrg. Tr. 7/25/16, p. 26, L. 4-25) Sometime after the first hearing, the judge

decided it would be best to bring Chopard into court.

The court hereby sets continuation of hearing for August 31, 2016, at 2:30 p.m. to allow reception of evidence from Waterloo police officers Chopard and Naumann as to whether either made a statement to K.P.'s father that they believe K.P.'s claim of sexual assault to be false.

(Order, 8/3/16, p. 4; App. 67)

At the beginning of the second motion hearing, the prosecutor

informed the judge that Officer Naumann had retired from the WPD and left

the State. Judge Stigler then made his investigative intent clear:

The Court: Okay. Why don't we hear from investigator Chopard. I am not interested in the investigation that he carried out. The only thing I'm really interested in is whether he made a statement along the lines as to what the father said last time being attributed to the police. Come on up. (Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, pp. 3-4, L. 24-11) Applicant counsel's cross-examination did not focus on what Detective Chopard had specifically said to Philip over five years before he testified. Instead, the Applicant's cross was directed toward what the detective had concluded as a result of his investigation. Chopard was candid in his answers.

As the Applicant set out to cross-examine Detective Chopard, counsel asked if he might be allowed to review the police reports before cross-examination. Judge Stigler denied the request. He told counsel, "I know your motion is on file and I have not ruled on it, but I will rule on it now. You will not be given access to those." (Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, p. 9, L. 18-24). At the same time, the prosecutor, of course, did have those reports, and she used them in her examination of Detective Chopard. From one of those questions, Applicant was able to demonstrate that Chopard made clear to K.P. that he did not believe her complaint of being sexually assaulted by gang members:

Q. Now, in the portion of a report that Ms. Griffith just read to you, and I will quote as part of your report, "KP told me since nobody believed her, she did not want to press charges." Do you recall reading that in your report of May 2, 2011?

A. I do.

Q. Would it indicate to you when she says "nobody" that means she believed you did not believe her?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you tell her that you did not believe her?

A. No, I would not tell her that.

(Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, pp. 14-15, L. 20-6)

Detective Chopard's position on cross-examination was that he did not believe K.P's allegations. The detective maintained he would not have directly told K.P. or Philip that he did not believe the accusation. He did admit that he would have told Philip "the reasons why" he did not believe K.P. The detective also conceded that Philip could have interpreted the detective's explanation as a statement that he did not believe K.P. (Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, pp. 12-13, L. 13-18).

When he had called Detective Chopard to the stand, the judge announced he was "not interested in the investigation that [the detective] carried out." Judge Stigler announced his only reason for scheduling the second hearing before Chopard started his testimony. The judge said: "The only thing I'm really interested in is whether [the detective] made a statement along the lines as to what the father said last time being attributed to the police." (Hrg. Tr., 8/31/16, pp. 3-4, L. 24-11) The reference to Philip's testimony in the prior hearing was his recollection the WPD did not go forward with K.P.'s accusation because "stories weren't matching up ... there were too many loopholes, I believe, in the investigation to do anything." Philip testified police believed it was a false complaint. (Hrg. Tr., 7/25/16, pp. 14-15, L. 21-8) Philip's testimony recalling what he had been told five years previously was certainly "along the lines" of Detective Chopard's testimony in the second hearing.

Chopard may not have precisely said he thought K.P. made a false accusation. He did testify he told Philip the reasons he did not believe K.P.'s accusation, however.

The judge did not mention how Philip and Detective Chopard matched up in their testimony. He did not make any type of findings as to whether their recollections actually were "along the same lines." Even though Chopard had corroborated Philip's testimony on the conversation he had with Philip five years previously, the judge decided to focus on Philip's physical description of Chopard. In ruling on Applicant's Motion for Admissibility and the Motion to Quash, the judge reverted to placing importance on his cross-examination of Philip as to the physical appearance of the detective he talked to.

> The third possibility is that Phil Powers is simply not telling the truth. He's not a credible witness. When he testified, Mr. Powers indicated that the officer who made the statement to him, the officer was six feet tall and

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