IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 16-1650

DAVID M. POWERS, Applicant-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA, Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE GEORGE L. STIGLER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) kyle.hanson@iowa.gov

BRIAN WILLIAMS Black Hawk County Attorney

KIMBERLY GRIFFITH & ELIZABETH O'DONNELL Assistant County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

AMENDED FINAL

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

Even more to the point, the district court reviewed the police reports in camera and found no evidence of a false report. The court had "absolutely no doubt" that "something happened to KP the night she was in that gang house." Tr. (8/31/2016) p. 31, lines 11–13. "This

child unfortunately has been victimized twice in her rather short life. Victimized first by Mr. Powers and victimized second by these three gang members." Tr. p. 32, lines 5–7. The district court preserved the police reports "in the event of an appeal," so this Court can conduct its own in camera review and "make its own determination as to whether there is a credible claim of falsity to KP's second report of having been abused." Tr. p. 32, lines 16–21.

Powers erroneously suggests that only his attorney was capable of determining whether the police reports were relevant. See Applicant's Proof Br. at 31 (complaining that the district court "did not allow counsel for the Applicant to see the reports"). However, if Powers is not on a fishing expedition, then he should be able to describe what evidence he seeks and trust that the district court can find it—if it exists. Cf. State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470, 487 (Iowa 2013) ("We believe that a defense counsel who is not merely 'fishing' should be able to articulate to the district court specifically what information is being sought and why. With that guidance, we trust Iowa district court judges will be able to recognize exculpatory information when they see it."). Powers explained his theory that the police reports contained evidence of a false report, but the district

court found none. There is no reason to continue indulging counsel's unsubstantiated hopes of what the police reports might contain.

Powers reads too much into an excerpt of the police report. He quotes a portion of the report in which the officer wrote, "K.P. told me that since nobody believed her, she did not want to press charges...." Applicant's Proof Br. at 29. K.P.'s perception that nobody believed her does not prove her report was false. K.P. had just finished Powers's trial at which her own father, mother, and brother testified she was a liar (Powers, 2012 WL 4513843, at *2) and her father told police he disbelieved her gang-rape report (Tr. 8/31/2016 p. 8, lines 17–19), so it should surprise nobody that she would not desire to endure a series of new rape trials without familial support. See Tr. (8/31/2016) p. 19, lines 11–20 (acknowledging that K.P.'s experience in her grandfather's trial could have factored into her decision not to pursue charges against the gang members). Additionally, the suspects were all gang members, so the fear of violent retribution weighed into her decision. Tr. p. 16, line 12 – p. 18, line 14. Finally, police did not charge K.P. with making a false report (Tr. p. 18, lines 19–24), which indicates they did not have evidence to prove she lied.

For all these reasons, K.P.'s decision not to pursue charges falls short of proving her report was false.

The police reports were not discoverable because they were not relevant. Demonstrating relevance required Powers to show that K.P. falsely reported the gang rape to police. But the credible evidence presented at the hearings showed no falsity, the district court's in camera review showed no falsity, and the circumstances of the K.P.'s report showed no falsity. The district court did not abuse its discretion when declining to grant discovery of irrelevant information.

2. K.P.'s subsequent report of sexual abuse does not qualify as newly discovered evidence.

The police reports also lacked relevance given the timing of K.P.'s gang-rape report. Powers seeks discovery to prove his claim of newly discovered evidence.² Amended PCR Appl. (10/17/2014) ¶ 15;

² Powers also claims trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting the gang-rape evidence in a motion for new trial. Amended PCR Appl. (10/17/2014) ¶¶12–13; App. 19. Such a motion for new trial would have alleged that "the defendant has discovered important and material evidence in the defendant's favor since the verdict . . ." Iowa R. App. P. 2.24(2)(b)(8). Thus, both claims rely on the same newly discovered evidence framework. *See Grissom v. State*, 572 N.W.2d 183, 184 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) ("We follow the same analysis to resolve section 822.2(4) claims as we do to resolve claims of a new trial based on newly discovered evidence.").

App. 20. But K.P. was gang raped *after* Powers's trial concluded. Tr. (7/25/2016) p. 18, lines 2–9. This unrelated, subsequent report of sexual abuse is not newly discovered evidence in Powers's case.

"[B]y definition, newly discovered evidence refers to evidence which existed at the time of the trial proceeding." *Grissom v. State*, 572 N.W.2d 183, 184 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Benson v. Richardson*, 537 N.W.2d 748, 762–63 (Iowa 1995)). "Acts or events occurring subsequent to trial do not generally qualify as newly discovered evidence." *Id*. (citing 58 Am. Jur. 2d New Trial § 423, at 398 (1989)). The only exception is "in extraordinary cases when an 'utter failure of justice will unequivocally result' if the new evidence is not considered or where it is no longer just or equitable to enforce the prior judgment." *Id*. at 185.

Powers does not present an "extraordinary case" permitting him to explore evidence that arose after his convictions. Perhaps if K.P.'s credibility was not challenged at trial, then Powers could demonstrate an "utter failure of justice" would result without evidence of her subsequent dishonesty. But K.P. was "crossexamined extensively" about her credibility. *Powers*, 2012 WL 4513843, at *1. She admitted lying when her parents would not let he

do what she wanted. *Id.* K.P.'s father, mother, brother, and friend all testified she has a reputation for lying. *Id.* at *2. K.P.'s brother testified she tried to coax him into making a false report against Powers. *Id.* And Powers's doctor testified he was impotent. *Id.* at *3. The jury still convicted Powers despite all this evidence assailing K.P.'s credibility, so proof of an additional lie arising after the trial was not likely to sway the verdict.

Powers cites no authority to grant a new trial based on a subsequent false report of sexual abuse. He only cites two cases involving *prior* false reports. Applicant's Proof Br. at 30–31 (citing *Millam v. State*, 745 N.W.2d 719, 723 (Iowa 2008), *State v. Baker*, 679 N.W.2d 7, 9–11 (Iowa 2004)). And in the twenty years since *Grissom*, no appellate court has found a case to qualify for the "utter failure of justice" exception. *See, e.g., Armstrong v. State*, No. 13-1985, 2015 WL 4642164, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2015) (finding the "utter failure of justice" exception did not apply); *Schawitsch v. State*, No. 11-0743, 2012 WL 1439223, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 25, 2012) (same); *Woolison v. State*, No. 07-0888, 2008 WL 4525773, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 1, 2008) (same); *Morales v. State*, No. 01-1328, 2002 WL 31529176, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 15, 2002) (same);

Liggins v. State, No. 99-1188, 2000 WL 1827164, at *9 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 13, 2000) (same). *But see Jordan v. State*, No. 11-0166, 2012 WL 2819356, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. July 11, 2012) (suggesting that, if true, a victim's recantation would qualify for the *Grissom* exception). Although *Millam* and *Baker* recognize a prior false report could have some impeachment value, nothing requires the extraordinary relief of reopening the trial record to receive evidence of a subsequent report occurring after trial.

Even if K.P.'s subsequent report was false, it was not relevant to Powers's convictions. There is no question the gang rape happened after Powers's trial, so it is not evidence that he could have presented to change the jury's verdict. And because he already took the opportunity to attack K.P.'s credibility at trial, no failure of justice will occur if he is not allowed to pile on with another example of her supposed dishonesty. Consequently, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying discovery of an irrelevant matter.

3. Disclosure of the police reports was not "reasonably calculated" to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

The discovery rules did not permit Powers to engage in a fishing expedition. The police reports themselves were inadmissible hearsay, so discovery was not allowed unless "the information sought appears *reasonably calculated* to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.503(1) (emphasis added). The "reasonably calculated" standard required Powers to articulate a good faith basis to believe the police reports would lead to admissible evidence. *See Fagen v. Grand View Univ.*, 861 N.W.2d 825, 835 (Iowa 2015) (stating a party is not entitled to "go on an unlimited fighting expedition" under Rule 1.503 and section 622.10, and requiring the seeking party to show a "reasonable basis to believe" or a "good-faith factual basis" that medical records will contain relevant, admissible evidence). Powers failed to meet that standard.

Powers has not demonstrated that the police reports will lead to admissible evidence that K.P. falsely reported the gang rape. First, K.P. will not be testifying that she made a false report—she has never recanted the gang rape report. Tr. (7/25/2016) p. 16, lines 5–14. Second, Investigator Chopard's opinion about K.P.'s credibility is not admissible. *See Bowman v. State*, 710 N.W.2d 200, 204 (Iowa 2006) ("It is well-settled law in Iowa that a bright-line rule prohibits the questioning of a witness on whether another witness is telling the truth. There are no exceptions to this rule." (citations omitted)). The

investigator's opinion also lacks reliability because it appears he was misguided by common rape myths. *See* Tr. (9/1/2017) p. 13, line 19 – p. 14, line 19 (Investigator Chopard explaining that factors such as a "lack of corroboration" made it "hard for [him] to believe" K.P.'s report); *see also State v. Knox*, 536 N.W.2d 735, 742 (Iowa 1995) ("The law has abandoned any notion that a rape victim's accusation must be corroborated."). Therefore, the most obvious sources will not provide admissible evidence that K.P. made a false report.

Powers's argument relies on a great deal of speculation. He proposes that "[t]here may well be references in the reports to statements K.P. made in reference to [Powers]" and that other witnesses who might be named in the report "may have heard K.P. make statements about her accusations against [Powers]." Applicant's Proof Br. at 31. Although Powers may hope to find that sort of information, there is no reasonable, good-faith basis to believe it exists. The district court reviewed the records in camera and found no credible reason to believe K.P. made a false report. Tr. (8/31/2016) p. 30, line 20 – p. 32, line 21.

Powers is fishing. The police reports themselves do not contain proof that K.P. made a false report, and speculation about what the

reports might contain does not satisfy the "reasonably calculated" standard. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying discovery of K.P.'s unrelated, subsequent report of sexual abuse.

B. The district court appropriately protected the victim from annoyance, embarrassment, and oppression.

Even assuming the police reports held some marginal relevance, the district court had discretion to limit discovery to protect the victim. The district court "[m]ay make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense . . ." Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.504(1)(a). It can limit the method of discovery or order "[t]hat the discovery not be had" altogether. *Id.* "The district court may prevent or restrict [abusive] discovery even though the requirements of rule 1.503(1) are met." *Mediacom Iowa, L.L.C. v. Inc. City of Spencer*, 682 N.W.2d 62, 67 (Iowa 2004) (citation omitted).

The criminal justice system often overlooks the interests of crime victims. Sexual abusers and their attorneys can perpetuate rape myths in an effort to embarrass their victims into submission.

Studies illustrate how the process can inflict additional wounds on rape survivors. One study has found "that rape victims scored higher in distress measures *after* pursuing criminal prosecution of their cases than victims whose cases were not prosecuted." Mary Fan, Adversarial Justice's Casualties: Defending Victim-Witness Protection, 55 B.C. L. Rev. 775, 786 (2014) (citing Patricia A. Cluss et al., The Rape Victim: Psychological Correlates of Participation in the Legal Process, 10 Crim. J. & Behav. 342, 354–55 (1983)). Victims report high rates of negative interactions with the criminal justice system, which results in disappointment and reluctance to seek further help. Id. at 786–87 (citing Rebecca Campbell, What Really Happened? A Validation Study of Rape Survivors' Help-Seeking *Experiences with the Legal and Medical Systems*, 20 Violence & Victims 61–62, (2005)). To sexual assault victims, it seems that "rapists [have] more rights than victims, that victims' rights [are] not protected, and that the system [is] unfair." Id. at 787 (citing Patricia A. Frazier & Beth Haney, Sexual Assault Cases in the Legal System: Police, Prosecutor, and Victim Perspectives, 20 Law & Hum. Behav. 607, 620 (1996)). To prevent any additional secondary victimization

of K.P., the district court was justified to rein in Powers's irrelevant discovery request.

The district court recognized the emotional damage Powers's discovery could inflict on his victim. It ruled, "We're not going to victimize this child yet again by having her questioned as to the events that occurred to her in that gang house." Tr. (8/31/2016) p. 32, lines 14–16. Beyond questioning K.P. directly about the gang rape, Powers also wants to question other witnesses—presumably her acquaintances and maybe the perpetrators—about the gang rape. Applicant's Proof Br. at 31. Such discovery efforts would expose K.P. to annoyance, embarrassment, and oppression by reopening the wounds of her grandfather's abuse and by exposing her to the potential for violent retribution by the gang members who raped her.

"[I]n the administration of criminal justice, courts may not ignore the concerns of victims." *Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 14 (1983). The district court reasonably weighed Powers's need for the information against the harm discovery would cause. At best, he demonstrated minimal relevance because the police reports did not contain proof of a false report and were not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Meanwhile, Powers's

continual efforts to pry into the embarrassing and painful events of K.P.'s life risk inflicting even more damage than he has already caused. Encouraging or permitting sexual abusers to pursue abusive defense strategies only serves to discourage victims from reporting sexual abuse and seeking relief in the criminal justice system. The district court acted reasonably to prevent secondary victimization, so Powers fails to demonstrate an abuse of discretion.

II. Powers Failed to Preserve Error by Not Raising His Complaints in the District Court, and the District Court's Reasonable Rulings Fail to Substantiate His Constitutional Challenge.

Preservation of Error

Powers did not preserve all the error he raises on appeal. First, he never made some of his specific complaints in the district court. For example, he did not complain when the district court asked questions of the witnesses or when the district court "[i]nitiated [its] own investigation" by requesting additional information from the city attorney or by scheduling a second hearing. *Compare* Applicant's Proof Br. at 44, *with* Tr. (7/25/2016) p. 19, line 4 – p. 23, line 15, p. 26, lines 2–25. This Court should decline to consider the complaints that Powers did not present to the district court. *See State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999) ("Nothing is more basic in the law of appeal and error than the axiom that a party cannot sing a song to us that was not first sung in trial court.").

Similarly, Powers failed to add a constitutional dimension to all but one of his complaints. He raises six points he alleges violated his due process rights, but in the district court his only mention of due process concerned whether he should get access to police reports. *See* Suppl. Motion (8/14/2016); App. 67. "Issues not raised before the district court, including constitutional issues, cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. McCright*, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997). Therefore, this Court should confine its constitutional analysis to only the issue of whether Powers was entitled to access the discovery materials before litigating whether he should get discovery of those same materials.

Standard of Review

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